2007

# Khan v. State Records Committee : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

**STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION**

The Utah Court of Appeals has jurisdiction pursuant to Utah Code Ann. §78-2a-3(2)(a), (2)(b), and/or (2)(j).

**STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES**

a. The District Court committed abuses of discretion.

Standard of review: "Where the trial court may exercise broad discretion, we presume the correctness of the court's decision absent manifest injustice or inequity that indicates a clear abuse of discretion." *Childs v. Childs*, Case No. 971258-CA (Utah App. 1998). Abuse of discretion is "an appellate court's standard for reviewing a decision that is asserted to be grossly unsound, unreasonable, or illegal" (Black's Law Dictionary).

b. The District Court's findings of fact are clearly erroneous.

Standard of review: "We will overturn the [trial] court's findings of fact only if they are clearly erroneous. For a reviewing court to find clear error, it must decide that the factual findings made by the trial court are not adequately supported by the record, resolving all disputes in the evidence in a light most favorable to the trial court's determination." *State v Greuber*, 2007 UT 50, P. 6.

c. The District Court erred by granting Appellees' Motion for Summary Judgment.

Standard of review: "We review the trial court's grant of summary judgment for correctness, according no deference to the trial court's conclusions of law." *Potter v. Chadaz*, 977 P.2d 533, 535 (Utah Ct. App. 1999). "We view the facts and inferences in the light most favorable to the non-moving party, and affirm only when there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and the moving party is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law." *Id.* at 535-36.

### **CONSTITUTIONAL PROVISIONS, STATUTES, & RULES**

The following are determinative of this appeal: Utah Code §§63-2-102, 63-2-103, 63-2-201, 63-2-204, 63-2-205, 63-2-401, 63-2-403, and 63-2-404; Administrative Rules R35-1-4 and R35-2-2; Retention Reports labeled as Series 2266, 81804, 84406, 84410, 84416, 10546, 6314, 16944, 84409, 84381, 84411 & 24018 (R. 151-158; R. 160-163); Utah R. Civ. P. 4; Utah R. Civ. P. 52; Utah R. Civ. P. 56. They are set forth verbatim in the Addendum.

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Nature of the Case: This case arises out of Appellant's Government Records Access and Management Act ("GRAMA") request to the Utah Department of Public Safety ("DPS") for records relevant to his complaints to DPS.

Course of Proceedings: On November 8, 2002, Appellant Nasrulla Khan (hereinafter referred to as "Khan") had sent his complaints to DPS about continuing crimes and terrorism against him by some people, and about the illegal actions of the Ogden City Police officials concerning his complaint to them of those crimes and terrorism. On August 29, 2005, he had sent a written GRAMA request to DPS for records relevant to his November 8, 2002, complaints to DPS; he requested records of DPS investigators and officials relevant to his complaints. DPS did not give a response to his GRAMA request, or did not provide him the requested records, or did not issue a denial. Khan then filed the GRAMA appeal to the Chief Administrative Officer ("CAO") of DPS, who denied his GRAMA appeal. He then filed the notice of appeal to the State Records Committee, which did not schedule a hearing.

Khan filed the Petition for judicial review by the district court of the State Records Committee's order, and he amended his Petition. Khan served his request for production of documents and things, and Appellees produced some relevant records. He filed a motion to compel discovery, and they produced some more relevant records. Appellees filed their motion for summary judgment, and Khan filed his memorandum in opposition.

Disposition in the district court: The district court entered findings of fact and conclusions, and granted Appellees' motion for summary judgment on March 21, 2007.

## RELEVANT FACTS

On November 8, 2002, Appellant Khan had sent his complaints to the Utah Homeland Security Department about continuing crimes and terrorism against him by some people, and about the illegal actions of the Ogden City Police officials concerning his complaint to them of those crimes and terrorism (see Addendum B, R. 373). (The Utah Homeland Security Department is an agency in DPS.) In December 2002, Mr. John Keyser of DPS had traveled to Ogden City to meet with Khan regarding his complaints (R. 370-371); Mr. Keyser had looked at some of the evidence Khan had brought to that meeting, and he had written down his notes. Then, Khan had not received any communication from DPS; hence, early in the year 2003, he had written to Mr. Scott Behunin and Mr. Sidney Groll of DPS, and to the Governor of Utah about his November 8, 2002, complaints to DPS (Addendum B, R. 373). DPS Investigator, Mr. Jim Keith, had written to Khan in April 2003; during April and May of 2003, they had corresponded about Khan's November 8, 2002, complaints; then, Mr. Keith had stopped communicating with Khan. Khan had, then, written to DPS officials, including Mr. Robert Flowers and Mr. Verdi White, and to the Governor. Then, in June 2003, DPS Agent, Mr. Doug Miller, had written to Khan; during June and July of 2003, they had corresponded about Khan's November 8, 2002, complaints; then, Mr. Miller had stopped communicating with Khan. Khan had, then, again written to DPS officials including Mr. Flowers and Mr. White, and to the Governor.

On January 26, 2005, Khan wrote to the Governor requesting him to have DPS thoroughly and unbiasedly investigate the crimes and terrorism against him (R. 149,

DPS/SRC 9-11). On February 4, 2005, Captain Mitch McKee of DPS responded: "Our agency has looked into your complaints on various occasions, including sending an investigator to speak with you. We have found no evidence to support your claims and no further action will be taken by us at this time." (R. 262). On February 15, 2005, Khan wrote to Mr. McKee to inform Khan of the name of the investigator who was sent to speak with him, and requested Mr. McKee to send him a copy of the reports of that investigator, and of Mr. Keith, Mr. Miller, Mr. Behunin, Mr. Groll, Mr. Flowers and Mr. White concerning his complaints to DPS (R. 389; Addendum B, R. 373). On May 23, 2005, Mr. McKee referred Khan to the February 4, 2005, letter, and wrote: "The officer who interviewed you at the Library was Agent John Keyser. We found no evidence to support your claims and this department has taken no action. [DPS] considers this matter closed" (R. 148, DPS/SRC 5); he did not send Khan copies of the reports of the above-named DPS officers.

On August 29, 2005, Khan sent a written Government Records Access and Management Act ("GRAMA") request to DPS for records relevant to his November 8, 2002, complaints to DPS about "terrorism and crimes against [him], and about the illegal actions of the Ogden City Police;" he requested records of Mr. Behunin, Mr. Groll, Mr. Keith, Mr. Miller, Mr. McKee, Mr. Keyser, Mr. Flowers and Mr. White relevant to his November 8, 2002, complaints to DPS (Addendum B, R. 299 & 373). He sent his GRAMA request to DPS pursuant to Utah Code §63-2-204(1); DPS did not give a response to his GRAMA request, or did not provide him the requested records, or did not issue a denial. (§63-2-204(3)(a) and §63-2-205)). On September 19, 2005, Khan timely filed the GRAMA appeal to the Chief

Administrative Officer of DPS pursuant to §63-2-401; he enclosed a copy of his August 29, 2005, GRAMA request with that appeal. (R. 301). On October 3, 2005, DPS Commissioner Robert Flowers gave his determination on Khan's GRAMA appeal:

In your original request, you asked for records of the department regarding "complaints of terrorism and crimes against me, and about the illegal actions of the Ogden City Police against me." This is the same request you have made on several prior occasions to the Department of Public Safety. You have also requested records of Agent John Keyser regarding his investigation of you. Captain Mitch McKee has previously notified you that the department has never conducted such an investigation and that there are no records that satisfy your request. John Keyser spoke with you regarding your complaints of terrorism and crimes against you by Ogden City. No evidence was found to support your claims and no formal investigation was conducted. The Department of Public Safety closed this matter. The Department of Public Safety does not have any records that satisfy your GRAMA request. Therefore, this is a denial of your Government Records Access and Management Act appeal.

(Addendum B, R. 11). DPS and Mr. Flowers did not provide Khan any records with this determination.

On November 1, 2005, pursuant to Utah Code §63-2-403, Khan timely filed the notice of appeal to the State Records Committee appealing the denial of his GRAMA appeal by the Chief Administrative Officer of DPS; he rebutted the arguments stated in that denial (R. 15-18). The State Records Committee's order of November 7, 2005, states: "According to Administrative Rule R35-2-2(b), the claim that a record does not exist does not constitute a denial. Sufficient facts have not been alleged to determine that the records do exist and therefore I cannot schedule a hearing" (R. 8). The Records Committee did not provide Khan any records with its order. On November 7, 2005, Administrative Rule R35-2-2(b) stated: "The claim that a record does not exist does not constitute a denial unless the petitioner can



provide sufficient evidence in his or her statement of facts, reasons, and legal authority in support of appeal that record did exist at one time.” (Addendum C, R. 9).

On December 6, 2005, Khan timely filed the Petition for judicial review by the Third District Court of the State Records Committee’s order, pursuant to Utah Code §63-2-404(1). (R. 1-11). On April 6, 2006, he amended his Petition; he added Mr. Flowers, Ms. Tuttle, and DPS as respondents, and negligence claims (R. 33-44); by stipulation, the negligence claims and Mr. Flowers and Ms. Tuttle were dismissed. He stated that Appellees violated his constitutional right and his statutory right as his injuries (R. 42), and that they violated the GRAMA (R. 39). He stated his requests for relief (R. 42).

On July 5, 2006, Khan served his request for production of documents and things (R. 168-172); Appellees served their response (R. 139-147), and produced to him records, the Administrative Rules, and the retention reports ("retention policies"), including retention policies R. 151-158 and R. 160-163, and Administrative Rules R35-1-4 and R35-2-2. (R. 306-309, DPS/SRC 1-202). On September 1, 2006, he filed a motion for an order compelling discovery (R. 131-172); on September 13, 2006, Appellees filed their memorandum in opposition to Khan's motion to compel discovery and in support of their motion for protective order (R. 184-195); on September 27, 2006, he filed his reply memorandum to Appellees' memorandum opposing his motion to compel discovery and his memorandum opposing their motion for protective order (R. 211-222); on October 2, 2006, Appellees filed their reply memorandum in support of their motion for protective order (R.

225-230). Appellees produced to him more records (R. 309-310, DPS/SRC 203-226), including Mr. Miller's Investigation Reports (Addendum B, R. 221 & 222).

At the hearing on December 19, 2006, the court ordered Appellees to give Khan two privileged Investigation Reports after redacting those (Addendum A, R. 264, para. 2; R. 246; R. 513, pages 5-7), which they later gave him (R. 369-372 & R. 373-374). At that hearing, the court instructed Appellees' Attorney Ferre: "do a motion for summary judgment . . . with affidavits indicating what searches you've made and what you've done, and I think that that's how we finally dispose of the case" (R. 513, pages 10-11).

Khan filed an objection to the proposed order (R. 255-262); the court granted that order, and denied his motion to compel discovery (Addendum A, R. 263-265). On December 13, 2006, he filed a motion for imposition of costs, pursuant to Utah R. Civ. P. 4(f)(4) (R. 237-245, 247-252); it is pending in the court.

On January 25, 2007, Appellees filed a motion for summary judgment with affidavits (R. 266-319); on February 13, 2007, Khan filed his memorandum in opposition to the motion for summary judgment with his affidavit (R. 320-420); and on February 22, 2007, Appellees filed their reply memorandum (R. 421-435). There was no hearing on the motion. The district court entered its findings of fact, its "undisputed material facts," and its conclusions in its Order, and granted Appellees' motion for summary judgment on March 21, 2007. (Addendum A, R. 438-444). Khan, then, timely filed this appeal.

## **SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENTS**

Khan argued the following actions of the district court resulted in manifest injustice or inequity, indicating abuses of discretion by the court: (1) the court based its Order on the judicial review of the DPS Commissioner's determination, instead of on the State Records Committee's order or decision; (2) the court misunderstood or misapplied the law and the Administrative Rule; (3) the court's rulings: "[Appellees] have complied with GRAMA, have acted appropriately under the law," and granted them summary judgment are incorrect or erroneous; (4) the court's grant of summary judgment was premature because Khan had not completed discovery; (5) the court did not give its decision on a pending motion and the reliefs Khan had requested; and (6) the court's bias against Khan.

The court wrote the following findings of fact: Khan petitioned the court for judicial review of the DPS Commissioner's response; an Administrative Rule requires a party appealing a denial to provide sufficient evidence in the petitioner's statement of facts, reasons, and legal authority in support of the appeal, . . . or that the governmental entity has concealed, or not sufficiently or improperly searched for the record; the DPS Commissioner of Public Safety stated "no evidence was found to support your claims and no formal investigation was conducted, DPS does not have any records that satisfy your GRAMA request," and denied Khan's GRAMA appeal; Khan sent DPS more than one request on August 29, 2005, and sent a second request to the DPS CAO on September 19, 2005; Appellees have supported their claims that they have no such records, and no records exist; Khan has not shown defendants did anything other than all they could; Appellees submitted

affidavits from the people involved in attempting to locate the records; the material facts of this case are those pertaining to plaintiff's GRAMA requests and the department's response to his requests; defendants have complied with the applicable laws, requirements and procedures of GRAMA, have given Khan information to which he was entitled in response to his requests, defendants have complied with GRAMA and have acted appropriately under the law, and court is not persuaded that there truly remains any actual dispute of any material fact; and Khan requested access to particular governmental information. Khan marshaled all of the relevant evidence which supported the findings, and then demonstrated that these findings are not adequately supported by the record, and that they are contrary to the clear weight of the evidence; hence, he argued that the findings of the court are clearly erroneous.

Khan argued that the court erred in granting Appellees the summary judgment. He showed that the court's findings of fact and the court's "Undisputed Material Facts" are clearly erroneous, and the court's Order is erroneously based on the court's judicial review of the DPS Commissioner's determination instead of being based on the judicial review of the State Records Committee's order or decision; hence, he argued that the court's ensuing conclusion of granting summary judgment is erroneous. He showed that the court expressed a doubt or uncertainty concerning question of fact about the production of all of the material records by Appellees. Khan showed that there are doubts or uncertainties concerning questions of fact as to whether Appellees gave him all of the material, responsive, and existing records and information, and as to the accuracy and validity of their affidavits. He disputed the court's "Undisputed Material Facts." He argued that Appellees failed to comply

with the GRAMA, the applicable laws and procedures, their retention policies, and the Administrative Rules. He argued that discovery was not complete. Khan argued that because Appellees did not give him all of the existing, material, responsive information and public records, they also violated his legal right of access to unrestricted public records and his constitutional "right of access to information concerning the conduct of the public's business." Khan's statement of material facts in his affidavit are in conflict with Appellees' statement of material facts in their affidavits. Appellees and Khan have disputed each other's material facts. Based upon all of these arguments, Khan argues that there are genuine issues as to material facts, and that Appellees are not entitled to a judgment as a matter of law.

## **DETAILS OF THE ARGUMENTS**

### **I. THE DISTRICT COURT COMMITTED ABUSES OF DISCRETION.**

(1). At the hearing on December 19, 2006, the court ordered Appellees' Attorney Ferre to "do a motion for summary judgment . . . with affidavits indicating what searches you've made and what you've done, and I think that that's how we finally dispose of the case" (R. 513, pages 10-11). Khan argues that this shows that the court assisted the Appellees by instructing them what they should do next and what things should be in their motion for summary judgment, in order for the court and Appellees to "finally dispose of [Khan's] case." He argues that on that date, even before Appellees had written their summary judgment motion, the court had already decided to "dispose of [his] case." After Appellees filed their summary judgment motion with their affidavits in accordance with the court's

detailed and beneficial guidance or instructions to them, the court granted it. Khan argues that the court used Appellees' wordings from their pleadings for most of its findings in its Order. He argues that all of these show the court's bias against him in this case and by granting that summary judgment motion, and that he suffered manifest injustice or inequity in this case. The last comment of the court speaks for itself. "Where the trial court may exercise broad discretion, we presume the correctness of the court's decision absent manifest injustice or inequity that indicates a clear abuse of discretion." *Childs*, Case No. 971258-CA. Therefore, Khan argues that the court abused its discretion.

(2). Utah Code §63-2-404(1) states: "(a) Any party to a proceeding before the records committee may petition for judicial review by the district court of the records committee's order. . . . (c) The records committee is a necessary party to the petition for judicial review." Khan had filed his notice of appeal to the State Records Committee (R. 15-18); hence, he was a party to the proceeding before that Committee. The Records Committee issued its order on his notice of appeal (R. 8-10). On December 6, 2005, Khan filed his petition for judicial review by the district court of the State Records Committee's order (R. 1-11); later, he filed his amended petition for judicial review by the district court of the State Records Committee's order (R. 33-44). In its "Undisputed Material Facts" (Addendum A, R. 441), the district court's Order states: "On December 6, 2005 [Khan] then petitioned this Court for judicial review of the [DPS] Commissioner's response" (Addendum A, R. 442). Khan disputes this "material fact" of the court, because his Petition and amended Petition state judicial review of "the State Records Committee's order" (R. 1 & R. 33). In his Affidavit,

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