2007

Khan v. State Record Committee : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

Accordingly, when, in August and September 2005, Khan requested records from the Department respecting its investigation of Khan or of Khan's November 2002 complaint, the Department properly responded that it had not investigated Khan or his complaint and thus it had no records to satisfy Khan's request. Similarly, because the Department claimed it did not possess records pertinent to Khan's GRAMA request and because Khan failed to provide sufficient information that the Department then possessed, or had at one time possessed, investigative records, the Records Committee properly declined to set Khan's appeal for a hearing.

Finally, though neither Defendant possesses information responsive to Khan's request, each searched their records for, located, and produced to Kahn all of the information they possessed that pertained, in any way, to Khan. Accordingly, even prior to bringing this appeal, Khan received all of the documents Defendants can locate that pertain to him and Khan's further pursuit of his GRAMA rights is moot.

ARGUMENT

1. Khan Failed to Comply with Rule 24(k) of the Utah Rules of Appellate Procedure and this Court Should Disregard Khan's Brief.

Khan's Opening Brief violates Rule 24 of the Utah Rules of Appellate Procedure and the Court should disregard it. Rule 24(k) sets standards for written briefs:

All briefs under this rule must be concise, presented with accuracy, logically arranged with proper headings and free from burdensome, irrelevant, immaterial or scandalous matters.

Utah R. App. P. 24(k). Khan's brief lacks concision and organization.

The brief fails to state whether or where Khan preserved his issues on appeal and it is bereft of a proper standard of review. The brief is little

more than a collection of repetitive assertions that this Court should disregard.

Moreover, Khan may not hide behind the fact he appears *pro se*. Before filing this action, Khan filed seven actions before the U.S. District Court, the Tenth Circuit Court of Appeals, and the United States Supreme Court against the City of Ogden, various Ogden City employees, and members of the Ogden City council, claiming they failed to properly respond to or investigate Khan's telephone harassment and stalking claims to them.² Leniency in reviewing Khan's pleading is neither warranted nor required. *Lundahl v. Quinn*, 2003 UT 11, ¶4, 67 P.3d 1000. Khan should be charged with full knowledge and understanding of the law, relevant statutes, and rules. *Id.* ¶5. Khan has failed to comply with Rule 24(k) and this Court should strike his Opening Brief.

² See *Khan v. Lucas*, 33 Fed. Appx. 381 (10th Cir. 2002), *cert. denied*, 537 U.S. 977 (2002); *Khan v. Thorley*, 23 Fed. Appx. 978 (10th Cir. 2001); *Khan v. Mecham*, 80 Fed. Appx 50 (10th Cir. 2003) (affirming dismissal and *sua sponte* barring Khan from filing additional appeal of same subject matter), *cert. denied*, 543 U.S. 825 (2004); *Khan v. Mecham*, 158 Fed. Appx. 983 (10th Cir. 2005) (affirming dismissal and sanctioning Khan for violating court's order barring further appeal of same subject matter).

II. The Trial Court Correctly Granted Summary Judgment to the State Records Committee and Department of Public Safety Because They Complied With the Relevant Provisions of GRAMA in Responding to Khan's Records Request.

Khan challenges the district court's grant of summary judgment on several bases. Rule 56(c) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure permits a court to enter summary judgment in favor of the moving party when the court finds "the pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories, and admissions of file, together with the affidavits, if any, show that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and that the moving party is entitled to summary judgment as a matter of law." Utah R. Civ. P. 56(c); *Graham*, 1999 UT at ¶ 7. To determine whether an issue is genuine, the court's function is not to weigh the evidence or to determine the truth of the matter, but only to determine whether the record evidence is such that a reasonable jury could return a verdict for the nonmoving party. *Webster v. Sill*, 675 P.2d 1170, 1170-1171 (Utah 1983). Unsubstantiated, unsupported, and conclusory allegations carry no probative weight and cannot create a genuine issue of material fact. *See Rawson v. Conover*, 2001 UT 24, ¶ 33, 20 P.3d 876 (bald statements do not suffice to establish genuine issue of material fact); *Schnuphase v. Storehouse Markets*, 918 P.2d 476, 477-78 (Utah 1996) (bare

contentions, unsupported by specific facts raise no material facts as will preclude summary judgment). Mere assertion that a factual issue exists, without proper foundation, is insufficient to preclude a grant of summary judgment. *Webster*, 675 P.2d at 1171. Finally, a properly supported motion for summary judgment will not be defeated by the mere existence of some factual dispute between the parties. *See* Utah R. Civ. P. 56(c) (requiring materiality).

A. The trial court correctly determined the Department complied with GRAMA.

The Defendant Department did not violate GRAMA in responding to Khan's records request. The undisputed evidence established that the Department did not possess any records about a Department investigation of Khan or of Khan's November 2002 complaint. This Court should therefore affirm the summary judgment dismissing Khan's complaint against the Department.

"Every person has the right to inspect a public record free of charge." Utah Code Ann. § 63-2-201 (West 2005). But a person making the request, must do so in writing and must describe the requested record with "reasonable specificity." *Id.* § 63-2-204(1). And the government entity to whom a request is made must approve the request, deny the

request, or state that it does not maintain the requested record. *Id.* § 63-2-204(3)(a). No government entity is required to create a record that it does not possess or that does not exist. *Id.* § 63-2-201(8)(a).

This action began on August 29, 2005, when Khan wrote to the Department, “requesting records concerning [his] complaints to the [Department].” Khan attempted to particularize his request by setting out correspondence he had exchanged with the Department over nearly a three-year span and by explaining this correspondence pertained to “my complaint of terrorism and crimes against me, and about the illegal actions of the Ogden City Police against me.” When this letter failed to yield an immediate response, Khan wrote to the Department’s Chief Administrative Officer, stating he “had requested records concerning [his] complaints to the [Department].” Khan again failed to identify the requested information with any degree of specificity, let alone the “reasonable specificity” required by statute. *See Id.* § 63-2-204(1).

Given the vague and general nature of Khan’s request, the Department reasonably interpreted his request as one for investigation records respecting Khan or his November 2002 complaint to the Department. The Department responded to Khan on October 3, 2005, stating “no evidence was found to support your claims and no formal

investigation was conducted . . . the [Department] does not have any records that satisfy your GRAMA request.” The Department therefore denied Khan’s GRAMA request and appeal.

The Department’s interpretation of Khan’s request is fair and reasonable. The Department’s response that it had conducted no investigation and thus had no investigation records is likewise accurate and in compliance with GRAMA. *See Id.* § 63-2-204(3)(a) (stating entity must approve request and provide records, deny request, or notify requester entity does not possess or maintain requested record). Further, the Department’s response and the trial court’s findings are supported by the only competent and undisputed facts in this case.

Regardless of how Khan seeks to characterize his August 2005 request, or, regardless of Khan’s attempt to create a dispute from irrelevant facts or from material facts where no dispute exists, the Department does not now, nor has it ever, possessed records relevant to Khan’s GRAMA request. And though the Department (and the Defendant Records Committee) has now scoured its records in search of documents that pertain to Khan, in any way, those documents do not regard a Department investigation and thus are not responsive to Khan’s GRAMA request. The undisputed, competent evidence supports

the trial court's conclusion. The Department complied with GRAMA, and this Court should therefore affirm the grant of summary judgment to the Department.

B. The trial court correctly determined the Records Committee complied with GRAMA.

When the Department denied Khan's GRAMA appeal, it informed Khan of his appeal rights, which Khan pursued by seeking additional review by the State Records Committee. *See* Utah Code Ann. § 63-2-402(1). The Executive Secretary of the Records Committee reviewed Khan's request pursuant to Utah Code Ann. § 63-2-403(4), to determine the propriety of setting Khan's appeal for a records committee hearing. Under the guidelines promulgated by Utah Administrative Rule 35-2-2, the Executive Director declined to offer Khan a hearing. The Executive Secretary sent Khan written notice of, and the reasons for, her decision. *See* Utah Admin. Code R. 35-2-2(b) (as amended March 2005).³ Like Section 63-2-204(1) requiring a requesting party to identify the relevant

³ Khan is correct that in ruling on Defendants' motion, the trial court quoted from that version of Rule 35-2-2 as last amended in January 2007. This error, however, is harmless and has no impact on the propriety of the court's ruling. *See Crookston v. Fire Ins. Exch.*, 817 P.2d 789, 796 (Utah 1991) (finding error harmless where it is sufficiently inconsequential and there is no reasonable likelihood the error affected outcome of the proceedings).

records with “reasonable specificity,” Rule 35-2-2 required the appealing party to “provide sufficient evidence . . . that [the] record did exist at one time.”

Khan attempts to assail the Records Committee’s determination and trial court’s conclusion with bald assertions and conjectural statements. Khan ignores the Affidavit of Janell Tuttle, the Executive Secretary who made the determination to deny Khan a records committee hearing, and opts instead to assert the Committee had no sound reason to deny him a hearing. By so doing, Khan has failed in his burden to avoid summary judgment. *See Rawson*, 2001 UT ¶ 33; *Schnuphase*, 918 P.2d at 477-78. Just as the trial court had the duty to render judgment, this Court must affirm, when “the pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories, and admissions of file, together with the affidavits, if any, show that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and that the moving party is entitled to summary judgment as a matter of law.” Utah R. Civ. P. 56(c); *Graham*, 1999 UT at ¶ 7.

Next, Khan contends the trial court erred by reviewing the Department’s denial of his records request, and not the Records Committee’s refusal to grant Khan a hearing. Under the GRAMA statutory scheme, prior to seeking judicial review of a government

entity's decision, a requester must file a notice of appeal with the chief administrative officer of that entity. Utah Code Ann. ¶ 63-2-401(1)(a). That officer then has five (5) days to make a determination on the appeal. *Id.* § 63-2-401(5)(a). Once the officer denies that appeal, the requester may appeal to the records committee **or** immediately petition the district court for judicial review. *Id.* § 63-2-402(1).

Because Khan could have petitioned for immediate and *de novo* judicial review of the Department's decision instead of seeking interim review from the Records Committee, the trial court's failure to confront the Records Committee's decision to deny Khan a hearing does not constitute error. Further, even if it were error, such error is harmless at best.⁴ See *Crookston v. Fire Ins. Exch.*, 817 P.2d 789, 796 (Utah 1991); see also *Brinkerhoff v. Schwendiman*, 790 P.2d 587, 590 (Utah 1990) (finding trial *de novo* appropriate to cure error committed by agency below).

⁴ The trial court's decision also reflects judicial economy and expedience. To adopt Khan's interpretation of GRAMA's statutory scheme would unduly prolong this matter. Namely, assuming without admitting the trial court reviewed and reversed the Records Committee decision to deny Khan a hearing, Khan could have achieved a meeting with the records committee, an unsatisfactory result from which he could nonetheless appeal *de novo* to the district court.

C. The trial court's order complies with Rule 52(a) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure.

Khan also contends the trial court erred by failing to enter specific findings of fact on all material issues. Khan would be correct if this were an action "tried upon the facts without a jury or with an advisory jury." Utah R. Civ. P. 52(a). It was not. This case involves a Rule 56(c) summary judgment motion. Rule 52(a) governs findings of fact and provides a trial court "need not enter findings of fact and conclusions of law [when] ruling on" a summary judgment motion. *Id.* Instead, "[t]he court shall . . . issue a brief written statement of the grounds for its decision . . . when the motion is based on more than one ground." *Id.*; *Neerings v. Utah State Bar*, 817 P.2d 320, 321-22, n.2 (Utah 1991).

The trial court's Ruling and Order comports with this rule. That order contains not only a recitation of the court's finding of "undisputed facts," it sets forth in detail the court's legal conclusions and reasoning. The Ruling and Order adequately addresses the issues raised by Defendants' motion and clearly sets forth the court's finding that no genuine dispute exists as to the material facts underlying Khan's claim and that Defendants are thus entitled to judgment as a matter of law. Because findings of fact are generally not necessary in connection with

summary judgment decisions, *Granite Credit Union v. Remick*, 2006 UT App. 115, ¶ 8, 133 P.3d 440, and because the trial court provided the minimal findings Rule 52(a) requires, that Order should be affirmed.⁵

III. Khan Received All of the Records in Defendants' Possession that Pertain to Khan, Thus His Appeal is Moot.

Despite Khan's unsupported assertion otherwise, even before Khan filed his appeal, Defendants produced all of the records in Defendants'

⁵ Khan also argues Defendants violated his constitutional right of access to the requested records. Khan raised this issue in the trial court below; however, because that court disposed of the case under GRAMA, it did not address Khan's constitutional claim. This is entirely proper. *See Bailey v. Bayles*, 2002 UT 58, ¶26, 52 P.3d 1158 (“[C]onstitutional questions should be avoided if the case can be properly decided on non-constitutional grounds.”) (quoting *Vigos v. Mountainland Builders, Inc.*, 2000 UT 2, ¶ 8, 993 P.2d 207) (citations omitted). Further, had the court addressed this claim, it would not alter the outcome of the case. Khan has no federal constitutional right to access particular documents or information under governmental control. *Houchins v. KQED, Inc.*, 438 U.S. 1 (1978); *see also Smith v. Plati*, 258 F.3d 1167, 1178 (10th Cir. 2001) (“It is well-settled that there is no general first amendment right to access all sources of information within governmental control.”); *Lamphere & Urbaniak v. Colorado*, 21 F.3d 1508, 1511 (10th Cir. 1994) (observing no constitutional right to access government records). Nor does Khan possess a state constitutional guarantee to access particular records. *Redding v. Jacobsen*, 638 P.2d 503 (Utah 1981) (stating public has no absolute constitutional right to immediate access to everything government officials do or that records contain.); *see also State v. Archuleta*, 857 P.2d 234 (Utah 1993).

possession that pertain, in any way, to Khan. Moreover, the fact Khan possesses all of the records Defendants can locate, lends no support to his assertion Defendants violated GRAMA. But, it moots that claim.

“An action becomes moot ‘if the requested relief cannot affect the rights of the litigants.’” *Merhish v. H.A. Folsom & Assocs.*, 646 P.2d 731, 732 (Utah 1982) (quoting *Duran v. Morris*, 635 P.2d 43, 45 (Utah 1981)); see *Shipman v. Evans*, 2004 UT 44, ¶ 37, 100 P.3d 1151 (finding claim moot where court has lost “ability to provide judicial relief to the litigants.”) It is settled in Utah, that courts on appeal do not address moot claims. *Black v. Allstate Ins. Co.*, 2004 UT 66, ¶ 29, 100 P.3d 1163.

Because Khan received in discovery all of the documents in Defendants’ collective possession that pertain to Khan, and because Khan has produced no reliable evidence to the contrary, there is no justiciable issue before this Court. Khan’s request is therefore moot. The trial court recognized this on summary judgment and so too should this Court.⁶

⁶ Khan also contends the trial court abused its discretion and committed manifest injustice against him as follows: (1) the court’s grant of summary judgment was premature; (2) the court failed to rule on Khan’s request for service costs or to consider his request for an award of punitive damages; (3) the court’s decision evidences bias

CONCLUSION

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